S260391

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JEREMIAH SMITH,
Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

LOANME, INC.,
Defendant and Appellee.

Supreme Court
No. _____

Court of Appeal
No. E069752

Superior Court
No. RIC1612501

**APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
RIVERSIDE COUNTY**

Honorable Douglas P. Miller
Honorable Michael J. Raphael
Honorable Frank J. Menetrez

PETITION FOR REVIEW

**After the Published Decision of the Fourth Appellate District,
Second Division, County of Riverside.**

Todd M. Friedman (216752)

tfriedman@toddflaw.com

Adrian R. Bacon (280332)

abacon@toddflaw.com

Thomas E. Wheeler (SBN 308789)

twheeler@toddflaw.com

LAW OFFICES OF TODD M. FRIEDMAN, P.C.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the Court of Appeal erred in determining that California Penal Code § 632.7 authorizes the secret recording of any telephone call that involves one or more cordless or cellular telephones, so long as the recording is made by someone who is a party to the call rather than by a third-party eavesdropper.
- II. Whether the Court of Appeal erred in determining that California Penal Code § 632.7 clearly and unambiguously applies to third party eavesdroppers only, and not to parties to a call who receive and record the communications of another party without the knowledge or consent of that party.

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case is about telephone privacy. Since 1967, California has been an all-party consent state, meaning that it is generally illegal to record a telephone call without the consent of everyone who is a party to the call. The prohibition of non-consensual telephone recording, as well as other aspects of electronic privacy, are codified in the California Invasion of Privacy Act, Penal Code § 630 et seq. (“CIPA”). In enacting the CIPA, the California Legislature determined that an all-party consent regime is necessary “to protect the right of privacy of the people of this state.” Penal Code § 632. In 1974, voters further enshrined this right through the addition of the right to privacy in the California Constitution, Article 1, Section 1.

This Court has consistently applied the CIPA in a manner that furthers telephone privacy. In *Ribas v. Clark* (1985) 38 Cal.3d 355, this Court held

that the CIPA’s prohibition on non-consensual monitoring applies not only to interception while a telephone communication is in transit, but also to monitoring on an extension phone. In *Flanagan v. Flanagan* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 766, this Court explained that § 632 protects from non-consensual recording any telephone call that a participant does not intend to be overheard or recorded (whether or not the content of the call is intended to remain secret) and that § 632.7 protects against intercepting or recording “any communication” involving a cellular phone or cordless phone. *Flanagan, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at 776. In *Kearney v. Salomon Smith Barney, Inc.* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 95, this Court affirmed the all-party consent requirement and held that it applies to out-of-state businesses that engage in telephone communications with California customers. Recording a telephone call without the consent of any party has been held to be “an affront to human dignity.” *Friddle v. Epstein* (1993) 16 Cal. App. 4th 1649, 1660-61.

Consistent with this, “the Legislature found that ‘the advent of widespread use of cellular radio telephone technology means that persons will be conversing over a network which cannot guarantee privacy in the same way that it is guaranteed over landline systems.’ *Flanagan, supra*, 27 Cal.4th at 775. The California Supreme Court addressed application of section 632.7 by holding that it was enacted in response “to the problem of protecting the privacy of parties to calls involving cellular or cordless telephones” and made unlawful “the intentional interception **or recording** of a communication involving a cellular phone or a cordless phone.” *Id.* at 776 (emphasis added). Section 632.7 “protect[s] against interception or recording of *any* communication.” *Id.* at 776 (italics in original). Thus, while together sections 632 and 632.7, “protect[] against intentional, nonconsensual recording of telephone conversations regardless of the content of the conversation or the type of telephone involved” (*Id.* at p. 776), for landline communications, section 632 imposes the added requirement

that the plaintiff establish “an objectively reasonable expectation that the conversation is not being overheard or recorded.” *Id.* at 777. This statutory background, described by the Supreme Court, is incredibly important because it frames *why* the Legislature enacted § 632.7 – This Court was concerned that cellular phones and cordless phones would be determined by courts to be so insecure (due to eavesdropping) that there could be no reasonable expectation of privacy, and hence, § 632 would not prohibit recording such calls, since the statute required confidentiality, i.e. a reasonable expectation of privacy. Section 632.7 closed this foreseeable loophole. And, as further explained below, many federal district courts in California have held that § 632.7 protects against the non-consensual recording of telephone calls transmitted in whole or in part between cellular and/or cordless telephones.

Despite the statutory language, the legislative history of the CIPA, and judicial precedent, the Court of Appeal below held that § 632.7 applies only to third party eavesdroppers and that it does not apply to anyone who is a party to the call. The practical result of this ruling is to authorize the secret recording of any telephone call in which any party happens to be using a cell phone or a cordless a phone. The ruling effectively turns California into a one-party consent state with respect to the recordation of cell phone and cordless phone calls.

If left to stand, the Court of Appeal’s decision will have a devastating impact on the privacy rights of every Californian that have been in place and well understood for decades. As this Court has noted, consumers in California are accustomed to being informed at the outset of a call whenever a business entity intends to record the call. *Kearney, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at 118. The questionable ruling marks the first appellate-level Order on this issue and is being cited by defendants in numerous class action cases pending across the state wherein the identical issue is presented as a basis to request

reversals of prior rulings, as well as dismissals of the pending actions. Supreme Court review at this time would preserve judicial resources, in that the same issue is likely to be presented to each of the Appellate Districts in California if this important question of law is not settled now. Indeed, this issue is ripe for Supreme Court review pursuant to Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1) in order to settle an important question of law and it is relevant to every California resident, as it affects the privacy rights of every person who use cellular or cordless telephones.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

I. Procedural Background of Trial Court Proceedings

Smith filed his Class Action Complaint against LoanMe on September 26, 2016, alleging violations of Cal. Penal Code § 632.7 on behalf of himself and a putative class. The Parties jointly stipulated to and the Court ordered a bifurcated bench trial on a legal issue that ultimately is not relevant to this Appeal – whether beep tones constitute a sufficient notice advisory to a reasonable consumer that the call is being recorded. The parties briefed the issue and appeared for a bifurcated bench trial on October 13, 2017. The Court ruled in favor of LoanMe and entered Judgment against Plaintiff on November 21, 2017. On January 2, 2018, Smith timely filed his Notice of Appeal.

II. Statement of Facts

The Parties stipulated and agreed on all facts for the bifurcated trial and appeal. LoanMe is a lender that offers personal and small business loans to qualified customers. Smith's wife is the borrower on a loan made to her by LoanMe. In October 2015, LoanMe called the telephone number provided to it by Smith's wife to discuss her loan. Smith answered the phone and informed LoanMe that his wife was not home, after which the call ended. The call lasted approximately 18 seconds. LoanMe recorded the call.

Approximately 3 seconds into the call, LoanMe caused a “beep tone” to sound. A “beep tone” is played on outbound calls made by LoanMe at regular intervals every 15 seconds. LoanMe did not orally advise Smith that the call was being recorded, and Smith did not sign any contract with LoanMe granting consent to record calls with him. For purposes of the bifurcated bench trial and appeal, LoanMe accepts that the recorded call was placed to a cordless telephone. LoanMe contends that causing beep tones to sound at regular intervals during a phone call puts people on notice that the call is being recorded, and that, as a matter of law, people who continue the conversation after a beep tone (or series of tones) have consented to the call being recorded. Smith alleges that the use of beep tones, in the manner beep tones were used by LoanMe as demonstrated during the recorded phone call at issue, without more, are insufficient notice that the call is being recorded. This was the sole issue on which the parties requested review by the Court of Appeal. There were no other disputes of law or fact raised by the Parties.

LoanMe did not argue that § 632.7 did not apply to it as a party to the call.

III. The Court of Appeal Unexpectedly Invokes Government Code § 68081

For reasons that are unclear, after the legal issues surrounding beep tones had been fully briefed before the Court of Appeal, the Court issued a short Order requesting further briefing on a completely unrelated question: “should Penal Code § 632.7 be interpreted as applying only to the recording of a wireless communication that was ‘hacked’ or ‘pirated’ by someone who was not a party to the communication?” A copy of this Order is attached hereto as Exhibit B. Appellant was given only five pages of briefing on this issue.

IV. The Court of Appeal Order Unexpectedly Guts the Invasion of Privacy Act

Section 632.7 prohibits the secret recording of telephone calls that occur on a cell phone or cordless landline phone.¹ Or rather, it did until the Court of Appeal unexpectedly issued an unprompted ruling that § 632.7 applied only to eavesdroppers and not to parties to the call. The Court’s Order analyzes one single legal question relating generally to the Invasion of Privacy Act: does § 632.7 apply to the surreptitious recording of a telephone call by a participant in the phone call, or instead does it apply *only* to the recording of a communication by an undisclosed third-party eavesdropper? The Court of Appeal ruled that § 632.7 applies only to eavesdroppers, and that parties to a call are free to receive and secretly record communications without the consent of another party to the call without violating the statute. The ruling acknowledges that the majority of federal courts, in more than a dozen cases, have held otherwise.

The Court of Appeal Order is based on a misreading of the plain language of § 632.7 and the broader California Invasion of Privacy Act (“CIPA”). Rather than starting with the language of § 632.7, the Court of Appeal started by looking at CIPA as a whole and concluding that telephone calls that were confidential were already protected from recording under the circumstances by parties to a call under § 632. The Court went on to look at Penal Code § 632.5 and 632.6, which prohibit the *malicious* interception or

¹ Roughly 70% of calls placed to consumers are placed to their cell phones, not landlines. In fact, as of 2017, more than 53% of households in America were wireless only, meaning that they do have landline service. <https://www.textrequest.com/blog/how-many-people-still-use-landline-phone/>. In the wake of the Court’s ruling, consumers are left vulnerable to surreptitious recordation of their telephone conversations by companies that do not disclose that they are recording the call. This is directly contrary to long-settled appellate jurisprudence holding that such conduct is not only a violation of their privacy rights, but an “afront to human dignity” as well.

receipt of cellular phone or cordless phone communications without consent of the parties. Nothing in the plain language of either of these statutes specifies that they inherently apply only to third party eavesdroppers. Nevertheless, the Court read such a requirement into these two statutes due solely to their inclusion of the word “malicious,” which is not present in § 632.7. Finally, the Court looked at the language of § 632.7: “Every person who, without the consent of all parties to a communication, intercepts or receives and intentionally records, or assists in the interception or reception and intentional recordation of, a communication transmitted between two cellular radio telephones, a cellular radio telephone and a landline telephone, two cordless telephones, a cordless telephone and a landline telephone, or a cordless telephone and a cellular radio telephone, shall be punished by” a fine, imprisonment, or both. Nonetheless, rather than focusing on the language of the statute, the remainder of the Order attempts to frame § 632.7 in the context of §§ 632.5 and 632.6, with the assumption that neither applies to parties to a call and therefore, that § 632.7 must only apply only to third parties to a call as well. The conclusion appears to rest solely on the observation that *some* of the same language in § 632.7 also appears in §§ 632.5 and 632.6.

Despite § 632.7 clearly stating that liability is imposed on any person “who, without the consent of all parties to a communication, intercepts or receives and intentionally records” a communication involving a cellular phone or cordless phone, the Court determined as follows:

“The statute thus requires that the interception or receipt of the communication be without the parties’ consent. But the parties to a phone call always consent to the receipt of their communications by each other—that is what it means to be a party to the call (or at least that is part of what it means)...Consequently, the parties to a phone call are incapable of violating section 632.7, because they do not

intercept or receive each other's communications without all parties' consent."

The Court of Appeal's error was supported thereafter by a strawman argument, whereby the Court looked at § 632.5 and § 632.6 in its own rewritten context of applying only to eavesdroppers, despite such a restriction being nowhere in § 632.5 or § 632.6, and notwithstanding the only reason the Court of Appeal reached such a conclusion was due to the presence of the word "malicious" in § 632.5 and § 632.6. Yet the word "malicious" does not appear in § 632.7, so the same logic does not apply. The Court went on to conclude that the only way to harmonize the three statutes was to rule also that § 632.7 only applied to third parties. The Court appears to have conducted the analysis backward, looking at the conclusion and determining how best to reach it, rather than starting with the plain language of the statute and looking elsewhere only if necessary to resolve ambiguity. The only justification offered for having taken that backwards method of statutory interpretation was the court's statement: "it is not clear what it would mean for one party to receive the other party's communications with malice." What is particularly bizarre about the ruling is its attempt to square the Order's inconsistency with the Supreme Court's ruling in *Kearney*, which recognizes an approach to consent under § 632 that is similar to that taken by Appellant:

"Although parties to a phone call always consent to each other's receipt of their communications, they do not always consent to the use of an electronic amplifying or recording device to eavesdrop upon or record the communication. It is consequently unsurprising that section 632 can apply to the parties to a communication. (*Kearney*, supra, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 117-118.)

Appellant used a similar line of reasoning at oral argument – although parties to a telephone call always consent to one another's receipt of their communications, they do not always consent to the recording of the

communication. Thus, it is unsurprising that § 632.7 can apply to parties to the communication. The Court of Appeal was unpersuaded by this logic, but its Order fails to adequately explain why. The Court characterized Appellant’s position as “absurd” rather than actually looking at the plain language of § 632.7, which makes it abundantly clear that a consumer’s consent is conditional insofar as it requires both consent to “intercept or receive” and consent to “record” in order to obtain the requisite consent for the otherwise intrusive and statutorily-prohibited conduct described therein.

The Court goes on to ignore the reasoning of more than a dozen published federal decisions that have analyzed these questions thoroughly and persuasively from multiple angles and have come to a contrary conclusion. Instead, it focuses on a single opinion – *Brinkley v Monterey Financial Services, LLC* (S.D.Cal. 2018) 340 F.Supp.3d 1036. That decision recognized the reading of “consent” advanced by Appellant – that consent was conditional and required both consent to receive and consent to record, in order to amount to consent for the otherwise prohibited conduct. Despite consent being an affirmative defense under Black’s Law Dictionary’s definition, and being defined as conditional under the statute, the Court summarily dismisses that interpretation by simply concluding that the introductory prepositional phrase “without the consent of all parties to a communication” modified both “intercepts or receives” and “intentionally records” as separate acts and thus required a *lack of consent* for both elements in order for a violation to occur. This Court’s reading of the statute distorts what the term “consent” means in everyday use, in the legislative history, and according to legal dictionaries. While the Court went on to discuss the legislative history in its Order, it made clear that because it was ruling that the statute was unambiguous, it placed no weight on the Legislative History. A petition for rehearing was not requested.

The Order decimates important privacy rights of every California resident and turns California into a one-party consent state with respect to recordation of cellular and cordless phone calls. This is contrary to decades of precedent and the clear intent of the Legislature and stands as an affront to human dignity. The Order should be reversed.

V. The California Invasion Of Privacy Act

California's Invasion of Privacy Act, located in California Penal Code § 630 *et seq.*, prohibits, among other things, the recording of telephone conversations without consent. “Section 632.7 makes unlawful the intentional, non-consensual recording of a telephone communication, where at least one of the phones is a cordless or cellular telephone.” *Kuschner v. Nationwide Credit, Inc.* (E.D. Cal. 2009) 256 F.R.D. 684, 688. § 632.7 “protect[s] against interception or recording of *any* communication.” *Flanagan v. Flanagan* (2002) 27 Cal. 4th 766, 776. *See also Brown v. Defender Sec. Co.* (C.D. Cal. Oct. 2, 2012) 2012 WL 5308964, *2 (stating that both § 632 and § 632.7 “prevent a party to a conversation from recording it without the consent of all parties involved,” but “**§ 632.7 grants a wider range of protection to conversations where one participant uses a cellular phone or cordless phone,**” without the need for a “confidential” communication) (emphasis added).

California is known as a two-party consent state, which means that both parties to the call must consent in order for the conversation to be recorded. *Kearney, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at 129 & fn. 15. Consistent with this, “the Legislature found that ‘the advent of widespread use of cellular radio telephone technology means that persons will be conversing over a network which cannot guarantee privacy in the same way that it is guaranteed over landline systems.’” *Flanagan, supra*, 27 Cal. 4th at 775.

The California Supreme Court has held that an appropriate warning the call is being recorded, must be given “at the outset of the conversation” and

that the CIPA prohibits the recording of any conversation “without first informing all parties to the conversation that the conversation is being recorded.” *Kearney, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at 118; Dkt. Nos. 86 and 88.² As this Court observed:

“California consumers are accustomed to being informed at the outset of a telephone call whenever a business entity intends to record the call, it appears equally plausible that, in the absence of such an advisement, a California consumer reasonably would anticipate that such a telephone call is not being recorded, particularly in view of the strong privacy interest most persons have with regard to the personal financial information frequently disclosed in such calls.”

Id. at fn. 10. “California must be viewed as having a strong and continuing interest in the full and vigorous application of [CIPA] prohibiting the recording of telephone conversations without the knowledge or consent of all parties to the conversation.” *Id.* at 125. Citing to *Kearney*, the Court of Appeal has observed:

But the high court rejected the Court of Appeal's suggestion that under California law there was no need for an **explicit advisement** regarding the secret recording because “clients or customers of financial brokers ... ‘know or have reason to know’ that their telephone calls with the brokers are being recorded.” []

Kight v. Cashcall (2011) 200 Cal. App. 4th 1377, 1399 (emphasis added) (citing *Kearney*, citations omitted). In other words, to put a consumer on “adequate notice” that his or her call is being monitored or recorded, binding law holds that there must be an “explicit advisement.”

//

//

² *Friddle v. Epstein* (1993) 16 Cal. App. 4th 1649, 1661-1662 (the Privacy Act is violated at the moment the party begins making a secret recording, and “[n]o subsequent action or inaction is of consequence to this conclusion.”).

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeal Erred in Finding that § 632.7’s Recording Advisory Requirements Apply Only to Interlopers And Not to Parties to a Call

California Penal Code § 632.7 was designed to prevent anyone, party or interloper, from recording a qualifying telephone conversation without the knowledge or consent of all parties. The plain language of the statute, the overwhelming body of case law, and even the Legislative History of CIPA all support this reading. The Court of Appeal’s ruling effectively rewrites the language of the statute. The Invasion of Privacy Act codified under Cal. Penal Code §§630 *et seq.* was designed to broadly protect the privacy of California consumers, from having certain types of conversations recorded without their knowledge or consent. This Court, and every court thereafter, have held that California is a two-party consent state. As this Court has held, § 632.7 was enacted in response “to the problem of protecting the privacy of parties to calls involving cellular or cordless telephones” and made unlawful “the intentional interception or recording of a communication involving a cellular phone or a cordless phone.” *Flanagan, supra*, 27 Cal. 4th at 776 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeal disregarded this precedent by holding that § 632.7 only applies to eavesdroppers, not parties who secretly record a conversation without the consent of another party. The plain language of the statute makes it clear that the Court of Appeal’ Order is flawed:

“Every person who, [(1)] without the consent of all parties to a communication, [(2)] intercepts or receives and intentionally records, or assists in the interception or reception and intentional recordation of, [(3)] a communication transmitted between two cellular radio telephones, a cellular radio telephone and a landline telephone, two cordless telephones, a cordless telephone and a landline telephone, or a cordless telephone and a cellular

radio telephone, shall be punished by a fine ... or by imprisonment....”

Cal. Penal Code § 632.7. (emphasis added).

In its Order, the Court of Appeal made several errors in reading the statute: First, the Order selectively focuses on the “intercepts” portion of this language, and ascribes to the phrase “intercepts or receives” the same meaning as “eavesdrop.” Even if “intercepts” means the same thing as “eavesdrop,” “receives” does not. In fact, legal dictionaries define intercept as meaning “covert reception...See wiretapping” which is acutely different from “reception,” as reception can be known and is not necessarily surreptitious. Black’s Law Dictionary Eighth Edition at Pg. 827. The statutory text is written in the disjunctive, meaning that either interception or reception would violate CIPA, when combined with surreptitious recording.

Second, the Order ignores the statute’s clear statement that an entity must have “consent” to both a) intercept or receive, and b) record. Consent to receive alone is insufficient, as the statute clearly makes consent conditional upon informed knowledge whereby a party is advised if his or her communication is *either* intercepted *or* received and recorded. What use is having a consumer’s consent to what they already know - that they are voluntarily communicating to a party - if they have no idea that their conversation is being secretly recorded as well? Section 632.7 is a prohibition on recording. Thus, it follows that a consumer who is communicating with someone who is secretly recording the call does not have knowledge of the full risks of the communication, because he or she has not been given the dignity and protection of a recording advisory, and therefore have *not* in fact consented to that conversation taking place under the full scope of circumstances. Many a consumer no doubt would say “yes I was speaking to you voluntarily, but I would not have done so if I knew you were secretly recording me!” That is the crux of the problem with the

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