Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 2/14/2020 by M. Alfaro, Deputy Clerk

No. S260391

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JEREMIAH SMITH, Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

LOANME, INC., Defendant and Respondent.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two (Case No. E069752)

On Appeal from the Riverside County Superior Court

(Case No. RIC1612501; Hon. Sharon J. Waters)

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

ARGUMENT

As the petitioner, Smith has the burden to "explain how the case presents a ground for review." *See* Cal. R. Ct. 8.504(b)(2). The first and most basic ground for granting review—"[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law"—is not present here. *See* Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1).

I. Review by this Court is Not Necessary to Secure Uniformity of Decision.

Smith cannot show that there is a need to secure uniformity of decision. The Court of Appeal's decision interpreting Penal Code Section 632.7 does not conflict with any other Court of Appeal decision. In fact, it is the first and only reported Court of Appeal decision on the issue.

In addition, as the United States Supreme Court recognizes, "California courts are the ultimate authority on [California] law." *DIRECTV, Inc. v. Imburgia*, 136 S. Ct. 463, 468 (2015). Thus, the handful of conflicting federal district court decisions discussed in Smith's Petition are of no consequence.¹ (Pet. at pp. 24-27.)

¹ Not all federal judges disagree with the decision. *E.g., Young v. Hilton Worldwide, Inc.*, No. 2:12–cv–01788–R–(PJWx), 2014 WL 3434117, at *1 (C.D. Cal. July 11, 2014) ("[Penal Code] Sections 632.5, 632.6, and 632.7 restrict *third-party* interception of cellular and cordless telephonic radio transmissions.") (emphasis in original); *Young v. Hilton Worldwide, Inc.*, 565 Fed. App'x 595, 599 (9th Cir. 2014) (J. Motz, dissenting) ("[R]eading [Penal Code] § 632.7 as covering persons who intercept or receive a cellular communication *other than a person who is an intended party to the communication* effectuates the California legislature's intent.") (emphasis in original).

"All trial courts are bound by all published decisions of the Court of Appeal, the only qualifications being that the relevant point in the appellate decision must not have been disapproved by the California Supreme Court and must not be in conflict with another appellate decision." *Sarti v. Salt Creek Ltd.*, 167 Cal. App. 4th 1187, 1193 (2008), *as modified on denial of reh'g* (Nov. 26, 2008) (citing *Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Ct.*, 57 Cal. 2d 450, 455 (1962)). "Decisions of every division of the District Courts of Appeal are binding upon all the ... superior courts of this state" *Auto Equity Sales*, 57 Cal. 2d at 455.

Guidance from this Court is not necessary to secure uniformity of decision among the superior courts: The Court of Appeal's unanimous published decision already did that.² Therefore, there is no need for review to secure uniformity of decision.

II. Review by this Court is Not Necessary to Settle an Important Question of Law.

To the extent that there was a question about the interpretation of Penal Code Section 632.7, guidance from this Court is not necessary to settle an important question of law: The Court of

As it is, superior courts were previously in agreement with the Court of Appeal's decision. *E.g., Burkley v. Nine West Holdings Inc.*, No. BC641730, 2017 WL 4479316, at *3 (Cal. Super. Los Angeles County Sept. 5, 2017) (a person does not "receive" a phone communication "within the meaning of [Penal Code] section 632.7 when the telephone call is directed to him."); *Granina v. Eddie Bauer LLC*, No. BC569111, 2015 WL 9855304, at *4 (Cal. Super. Los Angeles County Dec. 2, 2015) ("[Penal Code section] 632.7 was designed to *prohibit third parties*, who intercepted or otherwise received wireless communications, from intentionally recording them.") (emphasis added).

Appeal's unanimous published decision—the first and only reported Court of Appeal decision on the issue—already did that.

As the first reported Court of Appeal decision interpreting Penal Code Section 632.7, the Court of Appeal's decision is significant. But the conclusion the Court of Appeal reached is unremarkable considering its straightforward application of this Court's long-established statutory interpretation framework. *See Meza*, 6 Cal. 5th at 856-57. And the decision is correct in all respects.

In its Opinion, the Court of Appeal explained that there were no California appellate decisions interpreting Penal Code Section 632.7. (Op. at p. 2.) The Court of Appeal began its decision by analyzing the various provisions of CIPA—enacted in 1967—and the sequence of their enactment. (*Id.* at pp. 5-8.) "One of the provisions of the original 1967 legislation—[Penal Code Section] 632—prohibits the intentional recording of a confidential telephone communication without the consent of all parties." (*Id.* at p. 5 (citation omitted).)

"In 1985, in response to the early stages of technological advances in wireless communication, particularly cellular radio telephones, the Legislature enacted [Penal Code Section] 632.5." (*Id.* at p. 6 (citation omitted).) Section 632.5 prohibits the malicious and nonconsensual interception or receipt of cellular phone calls. Cal. Penal Code § 632.5(a).

"In 1990, the Legislature ... added [Penal Code Section] 632.6, which uses the same language as section 632.5 to extend the same protection to cordless telephones instead of cellular telephones." (Op. at p. 7.) Section 632.6 prohibits the malicious and nonconsensual

interception or receipt of cordless phone calls. Cal. Penal Code § 632.6(a).

"In 1992, the Legislature amended [CIPA] to add [Penal Code Section] 632.7." (Op. at p. 7.) Section 632.7 prohibits the nonconsensual interception or receipt and intentional recording of cellular and cordless phone calls. Cal. Penal Code § 632.7(a). "[S]ection 632.7 differs from sections 632.5 and 632.6 in that it (1) removes the element of malice, (2) adds the element of (nonconsensual) intentional recording, and (3) covers both cellular phones and cordless phones in a single code provision." (Op. at p. 8.)

As to the actual language of the statute, Penal Code Section 632.7 imposes liability on any person "who, without the consent of all parties to a communication, intercepts or receives and intentionally records" a communication involving a cellular phone or a cordless phone. (*Id.* at pp. 8-9 (quoting Cal Penal Code § 632.7(a)).) "The statute thus requires that the interception or receipt of the communication be without the parties' consent. But the parties to a phone call always consent to the receipt of their communications by each other—that is what it means to be a party to the call (or at least that is part of what it means)." (*Id.* at p. 9.) "Consequently, the parties to a phone call are incapable of violating section 632.7, because they do not intercept or receive each other's communications without all parties' consent." (*Id.*)

The Court of Appeal explained that its "interpretation of the plain meaning of section 632.7 aligns with the plain meaning of [Penal Code Sections] 632.5 and 632.6, whose language section 632.7 borrows. Sections 632.5 and 632.6 impose liability on anyone 'who,

maliciously and without the consent of all parties to the communication, intercepts [or] receives' a communication involving a cellular phone (§ 632.5) or a cordless phone (§ 632.6)." (*Id.* (quoting Cal Penal Code §§ 632.5(a), 632.6(a)).) The Court of Appeal continued: "Like section 632.7, sections 632.5 and 632.6 cannot apply to the parties to a phone call, because sections 632.5 and 632.6 apply only to someone who intercepts or receives a communication without all parties' consent. Sections 632.5 and 632.6 thus prohibit only malicious third party eavesdropping on cordless or cellular phone calls." (*Id.*)

As the Court of Appeal correctly noted, "[a] contrary interpretation, according to which sections 632.5 and 632.6 apply not only to third party eavesdroppers but also to the parties to cordless and cellular phone calls, would be absurd and unintelligible." (*Id.* at p. 10.) "First, in order for a party to a call to be liable under either section, the party would have to receive the other party's communications *without all parties' consent*. We do not see how that is possible." (*Id.* (emphasis in original).) "Second, in order for a party to a call to be liable under either section, the party would have to receive the other party's communications *maliciously*. Again, we do not see how that is possible—it is not clear what it would mean for one party to receive the other party's communications *with malice*." (*Id.* (emphasis in original).) "Statutory interpretations that lead to absurd results are to be avoided." (*Id.* (citing *Tuolumne Jobs & Small Bus. Alliance v. Superior Ct.*, 59 Cal. 4th 1029, 1037 (2014)).)

The Court of Appeal concluded that it saw "no viable alternative to interpreting sections 632.5 and 632.6 as limited to third

party eavesdroppers, because they apply only to persons who intercept or receive communications without all parties' consent. Section 632.7 contains the same restriction in the same language ('without the consent of all parties . . . intercepts or receives'), and we must interpret section 632.7 in a way that harmonizes it with the statutory scheme of which it is a part." (*Id.* at p. 12 (citation omitted).) The Court of Appeal therefore concluded that "section 632.7 clearly and unambiguously applies only to third party eavesdroppers, not to the parties to a phone call." (*Id.*)

Regarding the legislative history of Penal Code Section 632.7 (although the Court of Appeal noted that it was addressing legislative history only in an abundance of caution), the Court of Appeal explained that "[t]hroughout the legislative history of section 632.7, the Legislature demonstrates its concern with eavesdropping on wireless communications, and it never shows any concern about recording by parties." (*Id.* at p. 22.)³ The Court of Appeal therefore concluded that "the legislative history supports our interpretation of section 632.7 as limited to third party eavesdroppers." (*Id.*)

Importantly, the Court of Appeal's decision does <u>**not**</u> impact causes of action under Penal Code Section 632, which prohibits the intentional recording of "confidential" phone calls without the consent of all parties to the call. Thus, Smith's claim that the Court of Appeal's decision "effectively turns California into a one-party consent state" is false. (Pet. at p. 9.)

³ The Court of Appeal also considered—and rejected—the reasoning of those federal district courts that reached a different conclusion about Penal Code Section 632.7. (Op. at pp. 12-17.)

The Court of Appeal's decision confirms what the text of Penal Code Section 632.7—in relation to CIPA as a whole—and its legislative history already make clear. It is the only Court of Appeal decision on the issue and is binding on the superior courts. Therefore, there is no need for review to settle an important question of law.

III. Smith's Contention that the Opinion Is Erroneous Does Not Merit Review.

Smith's Petition raises various claims of "error" with the Court of Appeal's unanimous published decision. (Pet. at pp. 7, 18-31.) In particular, Smith contends that (a) the plain language of Penal Code Section 632.7 refutes the Court of Appeal's ruling; (b) nearly all federal district courts that have ruled on the issue disagree with the Court of Appeal's ruling; (c) the broader CIPA supports Smith's view; and (d) the legislative history of Penal Code Section 632.7 supports Smith's view. (*Id.*)

There was no error (as explained above), but even if there had been, alleged error in the Court of Appeal's decision is not grounds for review in this Court. *See, e.g.*, Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b); *Davis*, 147 Cal. at 348; *Snukal v. Flightways Mfg., Inc.*, 23 Cal. 4th 754, 768 (2000). Smith's disagreement with the Court of Appeal's decision is to be expected. It is just not enough to merit this Court's review. Review should therefore be denied.

CONCLUSION

Smith has not shown that this Court's review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision or settle an important question of law. Therefore, the Court should deny Smith's Petition.